

#### BACKGROUND DOCUMENT

# The development of a conceptual framework and indicators to guide the mainstreaming of the behavioural sciences into national public health

2 September 2025



# Contents

Background	
What are behavioural sciences and insights?	3
How is WHO providing leadership and support for the use of behavioural sciences in public health?	с 3
What is the demand from Member States for the application of behavioural sciences to public health?	3
Overall objective of developing indicators	4
Purpose of this technical consultation and subsequent steps	4
Mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health	5
Global Resolution and behavioural components of regional resolutions, strategies and framework	S
	5
Methodology for development of the conceptual framework and indicators	7
Internal mapping of insights	7
Document review	8
Key informant interviews	8
Findings of the formative research	9
Core concepts and frameworks	9
Core functions and outputs of a behavioural sciences functions	10
Conditions or capacities for mainstreaming 1	11
Recommendations/'principles' for the development of the indicators	12
Conclusion 1	13
References 1	15



## **Background**

#### What are behavioural sciences and insights?

Human behaviour affects health outcomes. Behavioural sciences investigate the psychological, social, and environmental barriers and enablers that influence health-related behaviours<sup>1,2</sup>. Behavioural insights are the actionable conclusions about human behaviour derived from findings in the behavioural sciences and/or from practical applications of behavioural sciences to real-world challenges and opportunities.<sup>2</sup> Behavioural insights on the influences on behaviours within context at the individual, community, and population level can improve the preparation, design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of policies, programmes, communications, products and services aimed at achieving better health for all.

Applying behavioural sciences requires a multidisciplinary approach and the adoption of theory, evidence, methods, practical tools and techniques drawn from psychology, sociology, anthropology, communications, marketing, economics, systems thinking and design thinking, among others. Behavioural sciences evidence can contribute to and complement other public health efforts that focus on the non-medical factors that influence health outcomes.

# How is WHO providing leadership and support for the use of behavioural sciences in public health?

The World Health Organization (WHO) aims at promoting health, keeping the world safe and serving the vulnerable. As part of this, WHO recognizes the need to explore and understand the many factors affecting human behaviours and practices for the success of health policies and programmes aimed at helping people and communities live healthier lives. WHO's Fourteenth General Programme of Work<sup>3</sup> (GPW 14) for 2025–2028 sets a global health agenda and will guide WHO's work in support of Member States to get the health-related Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) back on track and recognizes the opportunities afforded by the behavioural sciences. In particular, it includes the need to "understand the behavioural drivers and barriers faced by individuals, communities and diverse populations within communities; to involve and empower them in the decisions that affect their health and well-being; and to ensure the effective implementation of evidence-based preventive interventions". To enable this objective, WHO has established behavioural insights functions<sup>4</sup> in headquarters and regional offices that have a vision of "better health for all through behaviourally informed policies and programmes" contributed to by mainstreaming behavioural sciences across the core functions of WHO.

# What is the demand from Member States for the application of behavioural sciences to public health?

In May 2023, all Member States of the World Health Assembly adopted Resolution WHA76. $7^{5}$  on Behavioural Sciences for Better Health. Dozens of statements were pronounced by countries from around the world in support for more and systematic use of behavioural sciences and there is great enthusiasm and commitment to boosting efforts in this area for health. Furthermore, multiple



regional Member State resolutions, strategies, and frameworks have already been adopted that have included behavioural sciences (described in more detail below). Many of these documents call for monitoring of, and support for, the use of behavioural sciences.

## Overall objective of developing indicators

WHO is developing a conceptual framework to represent the process and impact of mainstreaming the behavioural sciences into national public health. The indicators are derived from this conceptual framework to monitor and guide the integration process.

The conceptual framework needs to represent an understanding of the impact of mainstreaming the behavioural sciences in public health, as well as how such mainstreaming could be achieved.

The indicators need to be measurable, relevant, timely, and feasible. They need to represent the conceptual framework and translate the operational paragraphs of global and regional resolutions, strategies, and frameworks on behavioural sciences for better health into measurable outputs.

## Purpose of this technical consultation and subsequent steps

This open consultation aims to gather diverse technical inputs on the first draft of the indicators that will help Member States monitor and guide the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health. The expected value of this technical consultation is to ensure that the indicators are informed by the best available evidence and diverse perspectives; to promote transparency and accountability by engaging a wide array of stakeholders; and to ensure that the indicators are relevant, effective, and sustainable.

This consultation seeks feedback on the following:

#### 1. Proposed Conceptual framework:

The objective of the proposed conceptual framework is to represent the impact of mainstreaming behavioural sciences in national public health, as well as how such integration could be achieved via a ministry of health and its associated agencies and institutes. The framework therefore represents a coherent model from which a set of indicators to monitor the integration process can be derived.

The consultation explores questions such as: Does the conceptual framework suitably reflect the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health systems? Does it have the right scope and necessary elements? Are the elements described appropriately?

#### 2. Proposed Indicators:

The purpose of the indicators is to define what to assess to monitor and guide progress in the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health, and guide reporters in how to measure and how to report the indicators.



The consultation explores questions such as: Do the indicators cover the statements in resolutions, strategies, and frameworks and align with the conceptual framework? Are they feasible to report, likely to result in quality data, and appropriately prioritized? Do they cover an appropriate balance of input, activity, output, outcome measures? Is the proposed use of the indicators realistic and appropriate?

Following analysis of the feedback, WHO will create a second draft of the indicators, which will be shared with the Member States though a WHO Member State Programmatic Information session.

## Mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health

Mainstreaming the behavioural sciences into national public health involves the process of institutionalizing theory, evidence, methods, practical tools and techniques from the behavioural sciences in public health activities and outputs. One dictionary definition of mainstreaming is "the process of making something to be considered normal by most people". What this means for national public health and how the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences can be achieved was explored in depth in the formative research to develop the indicators – described below. However, an example that can help as a point of reference is the gender mainstreaming model developed by the European Institute for Gender Equality to support the EU institutions and governmental bodies with the integration of a gender perspective in their work. That model describes "the integration of a gender perspective into the preparation, design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of policies, regulatory measures and spending programmes, with a view to..."<sup>Z</sup>.

# Global Resolution and behavioural components of regional resolutions, strategies and frameworks

The key resolutions, strategies and frameworks that inform the conceptual framework and indicators are as follows:

- WHA76.7 World Health Assembly Resolution on Behavioural Sciences for Better Health<sup>5</sup>.
- EUR/RC72/R1 European regional action framework for behavioural and cultural insights for equitable health, 2022–2027: Resolution<sup>8</sup>.
- AFR-RC73-9 Strengthening community protection and resilience regional strategy for community engagement<sup>9</sup>.
- WPR/RC74.R4 Communication for Health<sup>10</sup> (and forthcoming Regional Action Framework).
- Strategic Action Framework for Strengthening Community Engagement and Resilience to Health Emergencies in the WHO South-East Asia Region (2025–2029)<sup>11</sup>.
- PAHO CE172/16 Strategic Communications in Public Health for Behaviour Change 12.

Resolution WHA76.7 on Behavioural Sciences for Better Health is of key relevance to the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences to national public health because it focuses on the



behavioural sciences and was adopted by all Member States globally whereas behavioural sciences are an element of most regional resolutions, strategies, and frameworks (except the European regional action framework). The operational statements for Member States that need to be measured to monitor progress in, and guide WHO and others in support of, implementation of Resolution WHA76.7 on Behavioural Sciences for Better Health are:

- to acknowledge the role of behavioural science, through the provision of an improved understanding of individual behaviours, in the generation of evidence to inform health policies, public health activities and clinical practices, integrated with collective action through health in all policies, whole-of-government and whole-of-society approaches on economic, environmental and social determinants of health.
- 2. to identify opportunities to use behavioural science in developing and strengthening effective, tailored, equitable and human-centred health-related policies and functions across sectors, while ensuring commitment, capability and coordination across sectors in achieving the health-related Sustainable Development Goals.
- 3. to use behavioural science in participatory approaches including bidirectional communication with providers and local stakeholders and empower communities in understanding public health problems and designing and evaluating interventions to address them, in order to further enhance the effectiveness, local ownership and sustainability of interventions.
- 4. to develop and allocate sustainable human and financial resources for building or strengthening technical capacity for the use of behavioural science in public health.
- 5. to establish behavioural science functions or units for generating, sharing and translating evidence, to inform a national strategy as appropriate, and to monitor, evaluate and share lessons learned from subnational, national and regional levels responsible for the local implementation of behaviourally informed policies and interventions.
- to promote enabling environments and incentives, including appropriate measures in other
  policy areas, that encourage and facilitate behaviours that are beneficial to the physical and
  mental health of individuals as well as to the environment, and supportive to the development of
  healthy, safe and resilient communities.
- 7. to strengthen the capacity of health professionals through pre-service training, where possible, among academia, non-State actors and civil society, where applicable, on behavioural science approaches in patient care and a variety of public health functions, as appropriate, intersectoral policy frameworks and institutional policies.
- 8. to promote and support cooperation and partnership among Member States, between non-State actors, relevant stakeholders, health organizations, academic institutions, research foundations, the private sector and civil society, to implement plans and programmes based on behavioural science and to improve the quality of behavioural science insights by appropriate means, including the generation and sharing of evidence-based data which should follow the principles of interoperability and openness.



The common themes related to behavioural sciences across multiple of the regional resolutions, strategies and frameworks are to:

- Acknowledge, or commit to, or provide leadership to use behavioural sciences
- Identify opportunities to use behavioural sciences or strengthen behavioural sciences programmes
- Ensure human and financial resources or to establish behavioural sciences units
- Develop behavioural sciences strategies or embed behavioural sciences in strategies
- Use participatory approaches for behavioural sciences
- Monitor and evaluate the implementation of these resolutions, strategies and frameworks
- Share lessons learned, cooperate, and develop partnerships within and between countries.

# Methodology for development of the conceptual framework and indicators

The draft indicators were developed following gathering inputs though the three steps as follows:

#### Internal mapping of insights

Semi-structured sessions were held with technical officials of twelve WHO teams who had developed and collected data for global public health indicators with a focus on cross-cutting topics that may have more transferable approaches for the behavioural sciences, including: Adolescent and Young Adult Health; Alcohol, Drugs and Addictive Behaviours; Behavioural and Cultural Insights (Regional Office for Europe); Data and Analytics; Digital Health; Equity and Health; Gender, Rights, and Equity; Health Equity Monitoring; Innovation; Mental Health; Brain Health and Substance Use; Migration; Monitoring, Forecasting, and Inequalities; and Research for Health. A session with the United Nations Global Pulse (the Secretary-General's Innovation Lab<sup>13</sup>) was also held because of the team's role in monitoring the UN 2.0 Quintet of Change<sup>14</sup>. The consultation covered topics such as: who are the data reporters and audience for reports?; what was the process and methods used to develop the indicators?; what types of indicators are included?; and what type of data sources are used? Indicators and associated documents (such as strategies) were identified that measure progress at entity level on the use of behavioural sciences and on other topics being mainstreamed across institutions (such as gender) and methodology/tools for collecting the data. These data were synthesized to inform the development of the behavioural sciences indicators.

#### Document review

A document review was conducted to identify existing frameworks and conditions for mainstreaming, models of the national health system, and how behavioural sciences were used in national public health. The documents were identified by reference from the internal WHO consultation (above) and the key informant interviews (below), articles derived from searches on Google and Google scholar for keywords such as 'indicators', 'mainstreaming', 'advocating for', or 'functions of' and 'behavioural sciences', and for specific literature associated with the monitoring of public health programmes and initiatives identified in the internal consultation. The documents



included strategy documents, policy briefs, program reports, and academic literature relevant to the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health systems. Each document was reviewed systematically using a structured template designed to extract key information across several categories. These included a summary of core concepts and insights, the frameworks referenced (along with descriptions), and a profile of the institution or system into which behavioural sciences was being mainstreamed. The review also focused on identifying enabling conditions for mainstreaming, the points in the policy cycle where behavioural sciences were applied, and how behavioural sciences units were structured and function within public institutions. Other dimensions included the goals and behavioural orientation of these units, as well as their maturity and the sophistication of use of the behavioural sciences. This process provided valuable contextual grounding and highlighted real-world examples of how cross-cutting themes or disciplines (including the behavioural sciences) are being embedded – offering both aspirational models and practical constraints.

#### Key informant interviews

Informants were identified using agreed criteria. Semi-structured key informant interviews were held for one hour with consent for recording. Interviews began with open-ended, exploratory questions to build rapport and uncover new insights, before transitioning to structured questions based on a pre-developed guide, allowing adaptation to each informant's expertise. The recordings were transcribed and analyzed using thematic analysis. This method was chosen for its flexibility and suitability in identifying and interpreting patterns within qualitative data. This process involved familiarization, coding, theme generation, theme review, and insight compilation. The latter synthesized findings and selected illustrative quotes to anchor themes in participants' real-world experiences.

Twenty-one interviews were conducted with 27 informants with diversity across sector, region, and area of expertise. There were five interviews with informants from Ministries of Health (MoH), six from academia, seven from International Organisations (IOs), one from Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs), and two from the private sector. The interviews were with informants based in the following WHO regions: African x2; American x8; Eastern Mediterranean x1; European x8; South-East Asian x1; Western Pacific x1). Their expertise was distributed as follows (informants can have multiple areas of expertise): 19 used behavioural sciences to deliver health projects for government; 15 established or led a behavioural sciences function and understands what it entails; ten provided advice or resources to government for the use of behavioural sciences for health; six monitored and/or evaluated behavioural sciences (or related) activities.

## Findings of the formative research

#### Core concepts and frameworks

The formative research identified three initiatives that were especially relevant to the development of a logical framework and indicators for the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national



public health: the European Institute for Gender Equality model of gender mainstreaming, the European regional action framework for behavioural and cultural insights for health,  $2022-2027^{15}$ , and the UN 2.0 Action Plan<sup>16</sup>.

The European Institute for Gender Equality model of gender mainstreaming describes how a institutionalization strategy of statutory instruments with supporting conditions (including implementation plans, infrastructure, resources, accountability, expertise and collaboration) and tailored methods and tools can lead to an appropriate workforce and inclusion of relevant evidence in policies, resulting in better-functioning institutions, more effective processes, and better outcomes <sup>17,18,19</sup>. The model's integration pathway indicates how gender is mainstreamed through policy cycles or processes and helps visualize where gender functions are added and how they evolve over time. The enabling environment outlines the conditions or capacities needed to support the mainstreaming of gender. Further information and experiences about gender mainstreaming and associated indicators were derived from the Council of Europe<sup>20</sup>, UN Women<sup>21,22,23</sup>, and the United Nations Sustainable Development Group<sup>24</sup>. Other frameworks and strategies for the mainstreaming of other health topics were also included in the document review including international initiatives for digital health<sup>25,26</sup>, disabilities<sup>27,28,29</sup>, and innovation<sup>30,31,32</sup>.

The European regional action framework offers pathways for advancing the integration of behavioural sciences into national public health systems for more people-centred and effective health-related policy, service and communication at the country and regional level. It was developed through a collaborative process between the Member States in the European Region and the WHO Regional Office for Europe and adopted by the WHO Regional Committee for Europe. It includes five strategic commitments, agreed by the Member States, and a progress model for regular country reporting on activities.

Behavioural sciences are also a key pillar of the UN 2.0 Quintet of Change<sup>33</sup>, which aims to deliver a UN system with 21st century expertise and organizational culture to deliver stronger results, better Member State support, and faster SDG progress. To embed UN 2.0 into existing plans, guides and teams, the UN 2.0 Action Plan includes the tracking of progress as one of four essential actions for all UN entities. This includes conducting annual progress self-assessments using UN 2.0 scorecards, presenting results to the UN System Chief Executives Board for Coordination, and providing templates for similar self-assessments at entity, country, and team levels. It uses a survey consisting of 24 basic questions on behavioural science capabilities in five sections (strategy & capabilities, people, hiring & training, organizational culture, partnerships, and artificial intelligence).

The formative research also identified some ministries of health that used indicators to track behavioural science activities, such as the number of projects, trainings conducted, and the size of communities of practice. While these indicators were well-suited to the ministry and unit strategic frameworks from which they were developed, as a set they are not coherent. Some countries (England<sup>34</sup>, Saudi Arabia<sup>35</sup>, United States of America<sup>36</sup>) had developed strategies and/or conceptual frameworks for how the behavioural sciences can and should be integrated into national public



health and Saudi Arabia had used this to inform the development of key performance indicators. The formative research identified several domains where indicators could meaningfully track integration: institutional capacity (including staffing and funding), collaboration across sectors and geographies, capacity building through training, generation and use of evidence, strategic embedding of behavioural sciences in policies, and the uptake and impact of behavioural insights on decision-making. Despite this progress, challenges remain. Efforts are often siloed and unstandardized across contexts, successful pilots do not always lead to scale-up, and coordination is particularly difficult in decentralized systems. These insights underscore the need for a more harmonized and systematic approach to indicator design and use.

#### Core functions and outputs of a behavioural sciences functions

The domains mentioned above were further detailed to inform the design of an institutional conceptual framework by providing a description of how the behavioural sciences are mainstreamed into national public health: the core functions and outputs of a behavioural sciences functions, units or teams embedded within Ministries of Health and their associated agencies and institutes <sup>37</sup>.

- Using behavioural insights to inform policy and strategy: integrating behavioral evidence in the upstream stages of problem definition, political prioritization, and strategy formulation as well as during the design or improvement of programmes, services, communications<sup>38,39</sup>. The upstream stages were identified as being less common and likely to be implemented by more mature behavioural sciences functions. Informing policy and strategy with insights about human behaviour and decision making was also found to have an awareness-building aspect and engagement with leadership, and particularly leaders who were budget holders, was key to the opportunity for behavioural sciences to be used in strategic areas and for sustained resourcing. Key outputs of these activities include policy briefs, advocacy materials, and behavioural evidence embedded in national guidelines.
- Generating behavioural insights through research: using behavioural diagnostics and participatory, human-centred approaches to design and evaluate interventions that can be implemented to directly improve outcomes or applied to policies, programmes, services, and communications to improve their effectiveness<sup>34</sup>. Additionally, demonstrating impact and value through evaluated interventions, even if modest, helps support the value proposition for the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health. Key outputs of these activities include reports of behavioural diagnostics and reports of co-designed interventions with (cost-) effectiveness analyses.
- Building capacity: delivering pre-service and in-service training to strengthen the knowledge and skills of officials in relevant programmes of ministries of health and associated agencies for the use of the latest evidence, frameworks, and tools from the behavioural sciences; engagement of those officials in the application of that knowledge and skills to the generation of behavioural insights and/or to inform policy and strategy; fostering cross-departmental and cross-regional



collaboration and external partnerships<sup>36</sup>. Low behavioural sciences literacy – especially in lowand middle-income countries – was reported to reduce the acceptance of core concepts. Building capacity was found to create engagement and demand for opportunities to generate behavioural insights. Key outputs of these activities include curricula, trainings, and the publication of practical tools/toolkits.

#### Conditions or capacities for mainstreaming

In line with the European Institute for Gender Equality model of gender mainstreaming, the formative research also highlighted important conditions or capacities for the effective and sustainable mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health in addition to funding and staff resources:

#### • Leadership support (including budget holders)

Effective mainstreaming of behavioural sciences requires early and sustained engagement with senior ministry leadership to ensure strategic alignment, institutional ownership and a sustainable supply of resources<sup>34</sup>. This engagement must include the management of expectations, as policymakers often overestimate the potential impact of behavioural interventions; setting realistic expectations is essential to maintaining trust in the approach. A disconnect between technical and political stakeholders can hinder progress in mainstreaming a behavioural science approach —while technical teams may support behavioural science and provide some resources, final decisions often rest with political leaders who may not fully understand its value, limiting the uptake of evidence-based insights in policymaking.

#### • Alignment with internal demand and internal coordination

Successful integration and systematic use of behavioural evidence and context-specific behavioural data for policymaking and programme design is more likely when behavioural sciences address government-prioritized problems and are embedded in both strategy and everyday decision-making. Early involvement in the policy process is important and progress is often slowed by bureaucratic structures and institutional silos, with efforts relying on individual relationships rather than formal processes. Formal internal coordination structures can align the timely application of behavioural sciences to internal demand and enable the behavioural sciences to serve as a flexible tool across departments.

#### Existing institutional capacity and partnerships

Technical staff who were well-trained and with a focus on behavioural sciences were important enablers of the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health, especially when supported by coordination and integration mechanisms such as dedicated teams and units<sup>36,40</sup>. This capacity was needed to deliver the core functions and create the outputs identified above. And the use of established behavioural sciences frameworks supported institutionalization. Countries have taken varied approaches to providing this capacity – from centralized expert teams to long-term decentralized partnerships – there was no one-size-fits-all model, and effectiveness depends on local context and coordination<sup>41</sup>.



#### Institutionalized research mechanisms and ethical oversight

Institutionalized research mechanisms and ethical oversight and the internal social acceptance of research activities across public health can facilitate the implementation of behavioural sciences  $work^{42}$ 

#### Recommendations/'principles' for the development of the indicators

#### 1. Translate the resolution language into measurable technical indicators:

Having formally stated 'objectives' in resolutions, strategies and frameworks are an advantage for defining what to measure but that a common challenge is to modify these into measurable technical indicators.

#### Communicate a clear model of why the indicators are relevant to health systems and how they will be used

A specific objective and conceptual framework should be developed for clear communication and clarity should be developed for how the indicators are relevant to the systems and how they will be used – and by whom. The indicators should be used as entry points/tracers in a supportive and guiding approach. Furthermore, respondents advised that the indicators should be appropriate to the maturity of the behavioural sciences field with a balance of realistic and aspirational measures.

#### 3. Align the indicators to the maturity of the initiative and build on existing approaches

In relation to maturity, other initiatives had started by using process or policy survey. For precedence, the use or adaptation of existing indicators (and data collection systems), was reported to have increased validity and acceptability.

#### 4. Maximise feasibility and efficiency of data collection in the design of the indicators

Common activities involved in monitoring and guiding were data collection, compilation, analysis, communication and use by Member States and by WHO. It is important to carefully manage the human resource and time requirements for these activities to maximize efficiency. Indicator sets often had 10-20 'main' indicators that were supported with subquestions and free text qualifiers<sup>43</sup>.

#### 5. Optimize the clarity

Indicators and their definitions should be designed to be simple, clear and concise to minimize confusion, misinterpretation, and the need for clarification. Indicators collected through surveys sometimes optimized reporting by using binary or rating scales.

#### 6. Strengthen the mandate

Feasibility testing is important to build buy-in/ownership from Member States<sup>44</sup>. This buy-in/ownership is key to maximising response rates, sustainability of reporting over time, and avoidance of tick-box exercises even when resolutions require reporting. In response, WHO plans to give Member States the opportunity to volunteer for feasibility testing in the Member State Programmatic Information Session in October 2025.



#### 7. Use verification for accuracy and consistency

WHO surveys asked for explanations of how the rating was justified and requested supporting evidence to be uploaded to enable a manual verification process to contribute to accuracy and consistency over time and between Member States. Where possible, this evidence was published for knowledge sharing and transparency.

#### Conclusion

There is a need to develop a conceptual framework and indicators to monitor and guide the mainstreaming of behavioural sciences into national public health systems as evident from global and regional Member State resolutions, strategies, and frameworks. Research to date indicates the need to translate components of resolutions and strategies into measurable technical indicators with alignment to the conceptual framework through a process of engagement with Member States - building on existing frameworks and indicator sets. The engagement should assess the feasibility of reporting the indicators and verifying information - and clarify how the indicators will be used – and by who.

The research identified the core components of behavioural sciences that would be expected to be delivered by a Member State, which the conceptual framework should cover, such as the human and financial resources to implement behavioural sciences work through participatory approaches; the leadership, partnerships, and opportunities to use behavioural sciences; the embedding of behavioural sciences into health strategies; and the monitoring, evaluation, and sharing of lessons learned. The research also identified the process for mainstreaming behavioural sciences into public health systems (such as engagement and buy-in, building an understanding of the approach, and applying behavioural sciences theory and methods) and some of the barriers and enablers to the application of behavioural sciences.



#### References

- 1. Technical note from the WHO Technical Advisory Group on behavioural insights and science for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (<a href="https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/documents/bi-tag-technical-note1\_principles-and-steps.pdf">https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/documents/bi-tag-technical-note1\_principles-and-steps.pdf</a>, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 2. Forthcoming World Health Organization Glossary for Behavioural Insights Terms
- 3. A Global Health Strategy for 2025-2028 advancing equity and resilience in a turbulent world: fourteenth General Programme of Work. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2025. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. (https://www.who.int/about/general-programme-of-work/fourteenth, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 4. Behavioural Sciences for Better Health Initiative. Geneva, Switzerland. World Health Organization. (https://www.who.int/initiatives/behavioural-sciences, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 5. Resolution WHA76.7. Behavioural sciences for better health. In: Seventy-sixth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 21–30 May 2023. Resolutions and decisions, annexes. Geneva: World Health Organization; (WHA76/2023/REC/1)
- (https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA76-REC1/A76\_REC1\_Interactive\_en.pdf#page=52, accessed 24 July 2025).

  6. Cambridge Dictionary. (https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/mainstreaming, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 7. What is gender mainstreaming. Vilnius, Lithuania: European Institute for Gender Equality; 2025 (https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/what-is-gender-mainstreaming/toc-enabling-conditions-for-gender-mainstreaming, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 8. Resolution EUR/RC72/R1. European regional action framework for behavioural and
- 9. Regional Committee for Africa, 73. (2023). Strengthening community protection and resilience: regional strategy for community engagement, 2023–2030 in the WHO African Region: report of the Secretariat. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/372392, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 10. Regional Committee for the Western Pacific, 74. (2023). Communication for Health. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Western Pacific (WPR/RC74.R4) (<a href="https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/wpro---documents/regional-committee/session-74/wpr-rc74-r4-communication-for-health.pdf?sfvrsn=5949bd42\_1">https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/wpro---documents/regional-committee/session-74/wpr-rc74-r4-communication-for-health.pdf?sfvrsn=5949bd42\_1</a>, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 11. World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. (2024). Strategic Action Framework for Strengthening Community Engagement and Resilience to Health Emergencies in the WHO South-East Asia Region (2025–2029). World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO (https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/379085, accessed 24 July 2025). 12. Executive Committee of PAHO and WHO, 172. (2023). Strategic Communications in Public Health for Behaviour Change. World Health Organization. (CE172/16) (https://www.paho.org/sites/default/files/2023-06/ce172-16-e-communication-behavior-change.pdf, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 13. <a href="https://www.unglobalpulse.org/">https://www.unglobalpulse.org/</a>
- 14. UN 2.0 Quintet of Change. New York: United Nations; 2023 (https://un-two-zero.network/, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 15. European regional action framework for behavioural and cultural insights for health, 2022–2027. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. (https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/372664/WHO-EURO-2023-8004-47772-70522-eng.pdf, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 16. UN 2.0 Action Plan. New York: United Nations; 2024 (https://www.un.org/two-zero/sites/default/files/2024-10/UN%202.0%20Action%20Plan%20Approved.pdf, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 17. What is gender mainstreaming. Vilnius, Lithuania: European Institute for Gender Equality; 2025 (<a href="https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/what-is-gender-mainstreaming/conditions-for-gender-mainstreaming">https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/conditions-for-gender-mainstreaming</a>, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 18. Dimensions of gender mainstreaming in institutions: The SPO model. European Institute for Gender Equality, <a href="https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/toolkits/gender-institutional-transformation/dimensions-gender-mainstreaming-institutions-spo-model?language\_content\_entity=en">https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/toolkits/gender-institutional-transformation/dimensions-gender-mainstreaming-institutions-spo-model?language\_content\_entity=en</a>
- 19. Gender Mainstreaming: Gender Statistics and Indicators. European Institute for Gender Equality, EIGE. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2019. <a href="https://eige.europa.eu/publications-resources/publications/gender-mainstreaming-gender-statistics-and-indicators?language\_content\_entity=en">https://eige.europa.eu/publications-resources/publications/gender-mainstreaming-gender-statistics-and-indicators?language\_content\_entity=en</a>
- 20. Gender mainstreaming: Conceptual framework, methodology and presentation of good practices Final report of activities of the Group of Specialists on Mainstreaming (EG-S-MS). Directorate General of Human Rights. Strasbourg, 2004. Council of Europe, 2004 <a href="https://rm.coe.int/1680596135">https://rm.coe.int/1680596135</a>
- 21. Handbook on Gender Mainstreaming for Gender Equality Results. UN Women. <a href="https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2022-02/Handbook-on-gender-mainstreaming-for-gender-equality-results-en.pdf">https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2022-02/Handbook-on-gender-mainstreaming-for-gender-equality-results-en.pdf</a>
- 22. UN-SWAP 2.0: Accountability Framework for Mainstreaming Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women in United Nations Entities. Un-Swap 2.0 Framework & Technical
- Guidance. https://gendercoordinationandmainstreaming.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2024-11/UN-SWAP-2-TN-en.pdf 23. UN-SWAP 2.0: Accountability
- 24. UNCT-SWAP Gender Equality Scorecard Performance Indicators for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women for United Nations Country Teams Framework & Technical Guidance 2023. United Nations Sustainable Development Group. https://unsdq.un.org/sites/default/files/UNCT-SWAP\_Gender-report\_Web.pdf
- 25. Global strategy on digital health 2020-2025. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240020924
- 26. Global Digital Health Monitor. Global Development Incubator. https://digitalhealthmonitor.org/



- 27. Mainstreaming disability in the development agenda. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Social Inclusion. <a href="https://social.desa.un.org/issues/disability-issues/mainstreaming-disability-in-the-development-agenda">https://social.desa.un.org/issues/disability-issues/mainstreaming-disability-in-the-development-agenda</a>
- 28. Mainstreaming disability in the development agenda. Note by the Secretariat to the Forty-sixth session of the Commission for Social Development to the, 6-15 February 2008
- $(E/CN.5/2008/6). \ \ https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.un.org%2Fdisabilities%2Fdocuments%2Freports%2Fe-cn5-2008-6.doc\&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK$
- 29. Panel Discussion: Mainstreaming Disability in the Development Agenda, United Nations Headquarters, 12 February 2008. <a href="https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/resources/panel-discussionmainstreaming-disability-in-the-development-agenda.html">https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/resources/panel-discussionmainstreaming-disability-in-the-development-agenda.html</a>
- 30. OECD Working Papers on Public Governance No. 51. Innovative capacity of governments: A systemic framework. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/52389006-en">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/52389006-en</a> 2022. <a href="https://oecd-opsi.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/innovative-capacity-wp.pdf">https://oecd-opsi.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/innovative-capacity-wp.pdf</a>
- 31. OECD Working Papers on Public Governance No. 67. The state of play and prospects for measuring innovation in the public sector. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/dca76af0-">https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/dca76af0-</a>
- en. https://www.ospi.es/images/documentos/archivos/OPSI\_Medicion\_Inno\_Sector\_Publico.pdf
- 32. The Innovation Barometer. OECD Observatory of Public Sector Innovation. Creative Commons Attribution ShareAlike 3.0 IGO (CC BY-SA 3.0 IGO). https://oecd-opsi.org/innovations/the-innovation-barometer/
- 33. UN 2.0 Quintet of Change. New York: United Nations; 2023 (https://un-two-zero.network/, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 34. Improving people's health: applying behavioural and social sciences. Public Health England.
- 2018. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-peoples-health-applying-behavioural-and-social-sciences
- 35. Turk T, Alhajji MH, Alsuhaibani SA. Mainstreaming NUDGES in public health behavioural sciences in Saudi Arabia seven steps to success. International Journal of Scientific Research Updates, 2022, 03(02), 107–119. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.53430/ijsru.2022.3.2.0027">https://doi.org/10.53430/ijsru.2022.3.2.0027</a>
- 36. Blueprint for the Use of Social and Behavioral Science to Advance Evidence-Based Policymaking. National Science and Technology Council. 2024. <a href="https://digitalgovernmenthub.org/library/blueprint-for-the-use-of-social-and-behavioral-science-to-advance-evidence-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based-based
- $\frac{policymaking/\#:\sim:text=This\%20Blueprint\%20is\%20a\%20whole\%2Dof\%2Dgovernment\%20effort\%20that, decision makers\%20in\%20leveraqing\%20social\%20and\%20behavioral\%20science.$
- 37. Lee D, MacDonald B, Stewart J. The Critical Factors in Producing High Quality and Policy-Relevant Research: Insights from International Behavioural Science Units. Bradford: University of Bradford; 2023. Available from: <a href="https://uobrep.openrepository.com/handle/10547/625982">https://uobrep.openrepository.com/handle/10547/625982</a> (accessed 24 July 2025).
- 38. OECD. LOGIC: Good Practice Principles for Mainstreaming Behavioural Public Policy. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2022. Available from: <a href="https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/logic-good-practice-principles-for-mainstreaming-behavioural-public-policy\_6cb52de2-en.html">https://www.oecd.org/en/publications/logic-good-practice-principles-for-mainstreaming-behavioural-public-policy\_6cb52de2-en.html</a> (accessed 24 July 2025).
- 39. Smith, J., Zimmerman, E., Gachiengo Nyabero, W. et al., 2025. A behavioural science framework for tackling upstream challenges in health systems. BMJ Global Health, 10, e016897. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2024-016897
- 40. Sanders M, Hume S. Brokering Behaviour Change: The Work of Behavioural Insights Experts in Government. Bristol: Policy Press; 2019. Available from: <a href="https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/view/journals/pp/47/1/article-p37.xml">https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/view/journals/pp/47/1/article-p37.xml</a> (accessed 24 July 2025).
- 41. Behavioural and Social Science Activities in Public Sector or Policy Organisations: Mapping Guide. London: Behavioural Insights Team; 2023. Available from: <a href="https://cdn.prod.website-">https://cdn.prod.website-</a>
- files.com/63236652b830869ac6463e34/63f8a84159c1783d009dded0\_Behavioural-Science-Function-Mapping-A-Guide-for-Practitioners-Feb\_2023.pdf (accessed 24 July 2025).
- 42. Forthcoming WHO publication
- 43. SDG Indicators. Global indicator framework for the Sustainable Development Goals and targets of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York: United Nations; 2023 (https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/indicators/indicators-list/, accessed 24 July 2025).
- 44. Establishing a Behavioural Insights Function: Decision Support Tool. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024. Available from: <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/ii/item/9789240095427">https://www.who.int/publications/ii/item/9789240095427</a> (accessed 24 July 2025).